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STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 


   
 
IN THE OFFICE OF 

WAKE COUNTY
   


    

ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS

NORTH CAROLINA BOARD
)

OF FUNERAL SERVICE
)

Petitioner,

)


)

11 BMS 01794 
v.
)

)

DAVID B. LAWSON AND
)

DAVID B. LAWSON 


)

MORTUARY, INC.



)

Respondents.

)

______________________________________________________________________________

NORTH CAROLINA BOARD
)

OF FUNERAL SERVICE
)

Petitioner,

)


)

11 BMS 11820
v.
)


)


DAVID B. LAWSON AND
)

DAVID B. LAWSON 


)

MORTUARY, INC.



)

Respondents.

)

RECOMMENDED ORDER

Having presided over a hearing on the above-captioned contested cases on October 26, 2011 and having issued an Order for Summary Suspension, effective October 26, 2011, the undersigned Administrative Law Judge of the Office of Administrative Hearings issues the following Recommended Order against David B. Lawson (“Lawson”) and David B. Lawson Mortuary, Inc. (“Lawson Mortuary”) (collectively the “Respondents”), pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 150B-40.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY
1. This matter is properly before the Office of Administrative Hearings (“OAH”), which has both personal and subject matter jurisdiction.  The parties were properly noticed for hearing.

2. On February 16, 2011, through counsel, the North Carolina Board of Funeral Service (“Petitioner Board” or the “Board”) filed a Petition for Hearing (11 BMS 1794), alleging that Respondents had engaged in acts or omissions in violation of the statutes and regulations administered by the North Carolina Board of Funeral Service.
3. On March 23, 2011, both Respondents and the Board, through counsel, filed their respective Prehearing Statements.
4. On or around June 21, 2011, OAH issued a Notice of Hearing, setting the hearing date for 11 BMS 1794 on August 24 - 26, 2011.

5. On July 26, 2011, counsel for Respondents filed a Motion for Withdrawal of Counsel.  On July 28, 2011, the presiding Administrative Law Judge issued an Order Allowing Withdrawal of Counsel for Respondents.  
6. On August 1, 2011, the Board, through counsel, filed a Motion to Compel Respondents to comply with the Board’s discovery demands.

7. On August 8, OAH issued to Respondents a Request for Response to Motion, providing Respondents 10 days to file a written response setting forth objections to the Motion to Compel. 

8. On August 17, 2011, the Board, through counsel, filed a Motion for Continuance, in light of its outstanding Motion to Compel and the unavailability of a key witness due to an incapacitating illness.  

9. On August 19, 2011, the presiding Administrative Law Judge granted to Motion for Continuance and rescheduled the hearing for October 26 – 28, 2011.

10. On September 30, 2011, the Board, through counsel, filed a Petition for Hearing for Supplemental Violations (11 BMS 11820) and requested that said Petition be joined for hearing with 11 BMS 1794.
11. On October 6, 2011, the Board, through counsel, submitted a Prehearing Statement for contested case 11 BMS 11820.

12. On October 6, 2011, the Chief Administrative Law Judge granted the Board’s request to consolidate 11 BMS 1794 and 11 BMS 11820 for hearing.

13. On October 7, 2011, OAH issued an Amended Notice of Hearing, providing that 11 BMS 1794 and 11 BMS 11820 would be heard together on October 26 – 28, 2011.

14. On October 24, Lawson verbally asked OAH to continue the hearing scheduled to begin on October 26, 2011.  Lawson’s request for a continuance was denied.
FINDINGS OF FACT

1. As licensees, both Respondents are subject to the statutes and rules governing the practice of funeral service in North Carolina.  For all times relevant to this proceeding, Lawson was the president, owner, and manager of Lawson Mortuary.
2. Prior to June 22, 2007, Lawson Mortuary was licensed by the Board as Funeral Establishment No. 69 and Preneed Establishment No. 829.   Prior to June 22, 2007, Lawson was licensed to practice funeral services as Funeral Service Licensee No. 1073.  

3. In 2006, Petitioner Board became aware that Respondents had engaged in certain violations of law related to the practice of funeral services.  On June 22, 2007, the Respondents entered into a Consent Order with Petitioner whereby Lawson’s funeral service license and Lawson Mortuary’s funeral establishment permit were revoked.  However, these revocations were stayed based on certain conditions.    

4. Pursuant to the June 22, 2007, Consent Order, Lawson Mortuary and Lawson also voluntarily surrendered the preneed establishment license and all individual preneed sales licenses.  Neither Lawson nor Lawson Mortuary has held a preneed establishment license since voluntarily surrendering that license to Petitioner on June 26, 2007.  

A. Preneed Contract between Respondents and Miles
5. On or about May 25, 2009, Mr. James H. Miles, Sr. paid to Respondents $3,700 in connection with a revocable preneed funeral contract.  
6. Respondents did not use the forms required by Petitioner Board when they entered into the revocable preneed funeral contract with Mr. Miles.  

7. Respondents did not deposit the $3,700 paid by Mr. Miles into a trust account; instead, Respondents deposited the funds into their general operating account.

8. Respondents failed to file a preneed contract with Petitioner Board or pay the contract filing fee for Mr. Miles. 

9. On or around August 26, 2010, Mr. Miles’ daughter, Ms. Marie Williams—on behalf of Mr. Miles—asked Lawson to return the $3,700 because Mr. Miles no longer wished to use the services of Lawson Mortuary.  

10. Although Lawson indicated to Ms. Williams that he would return the $3,700 within a couple of days, he failed to do so.  

11. Between August 26, 2010 and September 11, 2010, Mr. Miles and his family made repeated attempts to contact Lawson in an effort to retrieve the $3,700.  

12. On September 13, 2010, Mr. Miles filed a consumer complaint against Lawson Mortuary, alleging that Respondents had failed to refund Mr. Miles the $3,700. 
13. On September 15, 2010, Respondents returned the $3,700, plus $60 in interest, to Mr. Miles.
14. Respondents did not have a preneed license from Petitioner Board before offering or selling a preneed funeral contract to Mr. Miles.  
B. Preneed Contract between Hamilton and Respondents
15. On or around January 28, 2008, Ms. Farrie Lee Hamilton paid to Respondents $7,964.30 in connection with a revocable preneed funeral contract.    
16. Respondents did not use the forms required by Petitioner Board when they entered into the revocable preneed funeral contract with Ms. Hamilton  

17. Respondents did not deposit the $7,964.30 paid by Ms. Hamilton into a trust account; instead, Respondents deposited the funds into their general operating account.

18. Respondents failed to file a preneed contract with Petitioner Board or pay the contract filing fee for Ms. Hamilton.

19. On or around April 21, 2011, Ms. Farrie Lee Hamilton decided to end the preneed funeral contract with Respondents.  Ms. Hamilton’s daughter, Ms. Diane Hamilton Jones—on behalf of Ms. Hamilton—attempted to contact Respondents on numerous occasions on and after April 21, 2011 to obtain a refund of the $7,964.30.     

20. On or around May 10, 2011, Ms. Diane Hamilton Jones—on behalf of Ms. Farrie Lee Hamilton—filed a Preneed Recovery Fund Application for Reimbursement with Petitioner Board.  
21.   On or around August 10, 2011, Petitioner Board approved Ms. Hamilton’s Preneed Recovery Fund Application for Reimbursement.  
22. On or around August 30, 2011, Petitioner Board paid Ms. Jones $7,964.30, plus $137.68 in interest, from the Preneed Recovery Fund, pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-210.66 and 21 N.C. Admin. Code 34D .0400, due to Respondents’ unlawful actions.    
23. To date, Respondents have not repaid Ms. Jones the money owed to her or reimbursed the Preneed Recovery Fund.

24. Respondents did not have a preneed license from Petitioner Board before offering or selling a preneed funeral contract to Ms. Hamilton.  

C. Preneed Contract between Harvey and Respondents
25. Ms. Corrina Harvey, who also goes by Sue Harvey, paid to Respondents $5,000.73 in connection with a revocable preneed contract in 2010.  
26. Respondents did not use the forms required by Petitioner Board when they entered into the revocable preneed funeral contract with Ms. Harvey.  

27. Respondents did not deposit the $5,000.73 paid by Ms. Harvey into a trust account; instead, Respondents deposited the funds into their general operating account.

28. On or about September 9, 2011, Ms. Corrina Harvey contacted Petitioner Board with concerns about her preneed contract with Respondents.  
29.  Respondents failed to file a preneed contract with Petitioner Board or pay the contract filing fee for Ms. Harvey.

30. Respondents have not made a refund to Ms. Harvey for her preneed funeral contract.

31. Respondents did not have a preneed license from Petitioner Board before offering or selling a preneed funeral contract to Ms. Harvey. 

D. Fraud in the Practice of Funeral Service
32. On or around June 23, 2011, Mrs. Ella Troxler entered into a contract with Respondents for funeral services on behalf of her deceased husband, Mr. Daniel Troxler.  
33. Upon entering into the contract, Mrs. Troxler paid Lawson $1,500 and agreed to pay the remaining balance of $8,435.90 with Mr. Troxler’s life insurance proceeds.  

34. Mrs. Troxler then assigned over $20,000 in insurance proceeds to Lawson.  Lawson told Mrs. Troxler that he would return to her the remainder of the life insurance proceeds that would not be used for the funeral service.  

35. To date, Respondents have not repaid Ms. Troxler, despite her repeated requests for the money she is owed. 

E. Failure to Provide Records to the Board
36. Since December 15, 2010, Petitioner Board has requested Respondents to produce, among other things, all preneed contracts and similar documents in which Mr. Lawson has agreed to provide services on a preneed basis after June 22, 2007. 
37. In addition, during the discovery phase of this administrative hearing, Petitioner Board again requested all preneed contracts and similar documents in which Mr. Lawson has agreed to provide services on a preneed basis after June 22, 2007.
38. To date, Respondents have not produced the requested documents.
F. Handling of Walton’s Remains
39. On August 11, 2010, at the request of the Carrboro Police Department, Lawson removed the remains of Ms. Linda Walton from her residence, which were in a state of decomposition.

40. On August 12, Lawson took Ms. Walton’s body to Triad Cremation Society, Inc., so that the body could be stored in a cooler.  

41. On August 13, Triad Cremation Society, Inc. returned Ms. Walton’s body to Respondents.

42. From August 13 until August 20, Respondents stored Ms. Walton’s body for a majority of the time in a hearse that was parked outside of Lawson Mortuary during a period of extreme and sustained heat.  During this time, Ms. Walton’s body continued to decompose and exhibited evidence of infestation by the presence of flies and maggots and a strong odor.  Respondent made numerous contacts, including Respondent, to try to find suitable and legal alternatives for Ms. Walton’s body.  He was not presented with any viable alternatives by anyone, including Respondent.
43. On August 20, Respondents returned Ms. Walton’s body to Triad Cremation, which cremated her remains. 
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Respondents violated the provisions of Articles 13A or 13D of Chapter 90 of the North Carolina General Statutes, the rules and regulations of the Petitioner Board, as set forth in 21 N.C. Admin. Code 34, and the standards set forth in Funeral Industry Practices, 16 C.F.R. § 453, in violation of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-210.25 (e)(1)(j) by:

a.  Selling preneed funeral contracts without a license, contrary to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-210.67;

b. Making funded funeral prearrangements without a license, contrary to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-210.67;

c.  Using an unapproved preneed contract form, contrary to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-210.62;

d. Failing to deposit preneed funeral funds into an account with a financial institution or insurance company, contrary to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-210.61;

e. Failing to provide a timely refund of preneed funeral funds under a revocable contract, as required by N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-210.65;

f. Failing to maintain records required of preneed contracts, contrary to N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 90-210.61; 90-210.68(a);

g. Failing to provide preneed funeral services records to the Board, when requested, contrary to N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 90-210.23; 90-210.68(a);

h. Committing fraud or misrepresentation in the practice of preneed funeral planning and in the practice of funeral service, contrary to N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 90-210.25(e)(1)b and 90-210.69(c)(4); and

i. Embezzling, or fraudulently or knowingly and willingly misapplying or converting preneed funeral funds to their own use or the use of any corporation, association or entity for any purpose other than for a preneed funeral contract, contrary to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-210.70 (a).

2. Respondents violated the terms of the Consent Order entered into by the Respondents and the Board on June 22, 2007.
3. Although Respondents’ treatment of Ms. Walton’s body was disrespectful, there was not a reasonable alternative for Respondents to store her remains under the facts presented at hearing.  
4. Pursuant to the undersigned’s Recommended Order, the funeral establishment permit of Lawson Mortuary, Inc. and the funeral service license of Lawson were summarily suspended, effective October 26, 2011, until further action is taken by the North Carolina Board of Funeral Service.  
RECOMMENDED DECISION

1. Based on the findings of fact and conclusions of law, the undersigned recommends the following sanctions:  
a.
The funeral establishment permit of Lawson Mortuary, Inc. and the funeral service license of Lawson be  REVOKED;
b.  
Within 15 days of service of the Final Agency Decision, Respondents be ORDERED to produce to the North Carolina Board of Funeral Service the following documents:
i. Copies of any and all contracts for funeral services, other than at-need funeral services, entered into by Lawson and/or Lawson Mortuary since June 22, 2007;
ii. Copies of all checks, account statements, deposit slips and other records of payment for funeral services, other than at-need funeral services, since June 22, 2007;
iii. Copies of all insurance policy applications, forms or other documents in which Lawson or Lawson Mortuary has or had any financial ownership interest, including but not limited to ownership, beneficiary designations, or assignments since June 22, 2007.
c.  
Respondents COMPLY with the following before filing any application for reinstatement of any license:

i.
Lawson Mortuary, Inc. and Lawson shall have made restitution to all consumers of preneed or at-need funeral services, pursuant to the North Carolina statutes and regulations governing the practice of funeral service;
ii. Lawson Mortuary, Inc. and Lawson shall have reimbursed the Preneed Recovery Fund for all claims paid due to the actions of Respondents, pursuant to the North Carolina statutes and regulations governing the practice of funeral service;
iii. Respondent Lawson shall meet all requirements for a lapsed funeral service license, including but not limited to completing annual continuing education in effect at the time of application and payment of all required fees; AND 
iv. Filing of all documents with Petitioner Board ordered herein.

d. No application for reinstatement shall be approved without a hearing before the Board.  Respondents shall have the burden to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Board (i) compliance with this Recommended Order; and (ii) fitness to resume practice in North Carolina. 
NOTICE
1. The undersigned’s Recommended Order in these contested cases will be reviewed by the agency making the final decision.  The agency making the final decision in these contested cases is required to give each party an opportunity to file exceptions to this Decision and to present written arguments to those in the agency who will make the final decision, in accordance with N.C.G.S.§ 150B-36(a).    
2. The North Carolina Board of Funeral Service will make the final decision in these contested cases, pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 150B-42.
This the 8th day of November, 2011

        _______________________________________

Donald W. Overby

Administrative Law Judge
